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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                               Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

	NANCY L. MERIN, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                         Applicant,

                                                   v. 

TICKETS.COM, INC. ,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   and 

HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY OF 

ILLINOIS,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                       Defendants.
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)
	          FINAL

          DECISION AND ORDER

        AWCB Case No.  200105776
        AWCB Decision No.  05-0232

         Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

         on September  9,  2005


On August 2, 2005, in Anchorage, Alaska, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employee’s claim for temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits related to her low back injury, permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) benefits for the employee’s shoulder, penalties, interest and attorney fees and costs.  Attorney Chancy Croft represented the employee.  Attorney Robert Griffin represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The record was held open to receive the citation to a case quoted in the employee’s brief, and copies of all controversion notices issued by the employer.  The Board received the citation on August 4, 2005.  On August 16, 2005, the Board received all controversion notices and compensation reports filed by the employer in this matter.  The record closed on August 17, 2005, when the Board next met.

ISSUES

1. Is the employee entitled to additional TTD benefits from August 30, 2003 through April 6, 2004 for her low back condition, under AS 23.30.185?

2.  Is the employee entitled to PPI benefits for her shoulder condition under AS 23.30.190?

3. Is the employee entitled to penalties under AS 23.30.155(e)?

4. Is the employee entitled to interest under AS 23.30.155(p)?

5. Is the employee entitled to attorney fees and costs under AS 23.30.145?


SUMMARY OF THE RELEVANT EVIDENCE
I. HISTORY OF MEDICAL TREATMENT AFTER MARCH 15, 2001 

For the purposes of this decision, the recitation of facts is limited to those necessary to decide the issues before the Board.  With regard to the employee’s back injury, the issues are limited to the date of medical stability and additional TTD benefits.  The employer has provided medical benefits related to the employee’s shoulder injury.  The issue before the Board related to the employee’s shoulder condition is PPI benefits.  Additionally, the employee has claims for penalties, interest and attorney fees and costs.

On April 2, 2001, the employee reported that she strained her back and shoulder on March 15, 2001.  She reported she received the strains when moving a file cabinet from the Safeway Administrative office to a new office on 4th Avenue; and that from March 17th through the 22nd, 2001, she worked 15 hours per day in Fairbanks and continued to strain her back when hauling training materials for the employer.
  At the time of the injury, the employee worked for the employer as a Trainer/Outlet Coordinator.

On February 21, 2001, prior to the employee’s work injury, the employee initiated chiropractic treatment with William J. Sobolesky based upon a specially priced introductory evaluation.
  In conducting cervical compression tests, Dr. Sobolesky noted dull pain in the employee’s cervical region and radiating pain in her shoulders.
  The complaints documented by Dr. Sobolesky, based upon a questionnaire completed by the employee, included stiffness and soreness in the employee’s neck; pain, stiffness and soreness in the low back; and pain, stiffness, soreness, and weakness in the employee’s right shoulder.
  

Dr. Sobolesky continued to treat the employee after her injury.  On an Initial Consultation Note dated February 21, 2001, Dr. Sobolesky provides a history of injury as follows:

Immediately following the injury Ms. Merin recalled that she felt a sore back.  As a result of the injury she immediately developed pain in her upper/middle back, lower back, and right shoulder.  The patient received no emergency care at the scene.  After the injury she drove herself from the accident site to her work.

The morning after the injury, Ms. Merin reported feeling the following additional symptoms: pain of the upper/middle back, lower back, and right shoulder; and stiffness of the lower back.  Because of the patient’s injury her activities of daily living, recreational activity, and work function have been restricted.  She has missed work on Tuesday, but worked Saturday instead.  She has self-treated with ice, bed rest, and over-the-counter medication.  The patient has subsequently sought medical care from William J. Sobolesky, BS, DC.  His treatment recommendation was chiropractic adjustments and muscle stimulation.  Due to persisting complaints she presented herself for consultation in our office.

Ms. Merin has not been in contact with an insurance company regarding her injury.

After the work injury, the employee continued to work until she was laid off in early June 2001.  The employer accepted liability for the employee’s injury and provided medical benefits.  The employer commenced provision of TTD benefits on July 15, 2001.

An MRI
 of the employee’s lumbar spine was taken on July 11, 2005.  It revealed degenerative disc disease at L3-4, L4-5, and L5-S1; lateral disc herniation with nerve root compression at L3-4; large L4-5 herniation with caudad migration to the left, which probably involved the L5 nerve root; and small central L5-S1 disc with no significant thecal sac or nerve root compression.

On July 20, 2001, Dr. Sobolesky referred the employee to Miriam Nolte, M.D. for evaluation and treatment with medication, if required;
 and to Anchorage Neurosurgical for evaluation of lumbar disc herniation.

John C. Godersky, M.D., evaluated the employee on August 3, 2001, and reported his findings to Dr. Sobolesky.  He found the employee had disc herniation at L4-5 with radiculopathy.  He indicated that although her L3-4 and L5-S1 discs were not symptomatic, they were degenerated.  Dr. Godersky discussed treatment options with the employee and planned to follow up with her if she chose not to proceed with surgery.
  Dr. Godersky released the employee to light duty work with no lifting over 10 pounds.

Dr. Sobolesky provided the employee with a disability certificate on August 13, 2001, certifying the employee was under Dr. Sobolesky’s care and was directed to remain off work from July 15, 2001 to August 27, 2001, at which time her condition was to be reevaluated.

While in New York with her family, the employee was evaluated by Nancy Epstein, M.D.  On September 7, 2001, Dr. Epstein provided Dr. Godersky with her impressions and recommendations for treatment.  Dr. Epstein stated that, in view of the severity of the employee’s neurological dysfunction, manifested in foot drop, surgical intervention should be considered.  She indicated neurological dysfunction could already be permanent and irreversible.  

A CT
 of the employee’s lumbar spine was conducted on September 7, 2001, and revealed the following:

1. Moderate to large central and left sided partially calcified extruded disc, L4-5.  Left inferior extension of an air containing disc fragment is noted.  Moderate to marked compression of the thecal sac is seen.  There is severe left L5 root impingement and moderate right recess narrowing.

2. Mild to moderate sized left lateral/foraminal disc herniation, L3-4.  There is mild to moderate compression of the exiting L3 root.  The size of the herniated disc and degree of neural compression at this level appears less prominent than on recent outside MRI of 7/11/01.

3. Mild to moderate posterior bulging of the disc annulus, L5-S1.  There is mild thecal sac compression.

On September 13, 2001, the employee underwent lumbar laminectomy L4 and L5, and decompression.  In a letter to Dr. Godersky dated November 16, 2001, Dr. Epstein stated as follows:

Flexion/extension lumbar films do not show, in my estimation, evidence of significant lumbar instability at that 4-5 level.  She will obtain a copy of these to bring with her when she returns to Anchorage.

We have additionally discussed her right shoulder discomfort as well as proximal right arm weakness.  This has been new in onset.  We will obtain an MR scan of the cervical spine and a right shoulder MR.

On April 9, 2002, Dr. Nolte examined the employee and assessed chronic right shoulder pain of questionable etiology, but likely related to either the March 15, 2001 injury or chronic overuse.
  Dr. Nolte referred the employee to physical therapy for evaluation of her shoulder and a back stabilization program.  An x-ray of the employee’s right shoulder revealed no acute or significant bony abnormality.

On May 20, 2002, the employee’s progress in back stabilization was slow and her shoulder was not responding to therapy.  The therapist recommended an injection or orthopedic consultation.
  A referral to Robert 
Gieringer, M.D., was made.

The employee’s right shoulder pain was aggravated by the swimming she did for back rehabilitation.  The employee reported that she was originally more concerned about her back, but that had improved and her shoulder was still a problem.

On June 24, 2002, Dr. Gieringer evaluated the employee’s right shoulder condition.  Dr. Gieringer reported the employee had been doing swimming for her back, but was told not to continue that activity by the physical therapist due to aggravation of her right shoulder pain.  The employee experienced night pain, pain at rest, as well as activities; she had loss of motion, numbness and tingling, popping, clicking, grinding, and changes with the weather.  Upon physical exam, Dr. Gieringer found the following:

She has a normal appearance of the shoulder.  She has tenderness of the acromion, greater tuberosity and the acromioclavicular joint.  Both the Hawkins and Neer impingement signs are positive, but mildly so.  Her range of motion is good.  She has some pain through the arc of motion.  It is not persistent though.  She has a full grade of weakness of strength to rotation.  The instability testing was essentially negative, although she may have had an apprehension sign.  There was some pain that was not consistent and it was relieved by the buttress maneuver when it did occur.  The biceps load and cross-chest adduction tests were equivalent.  I couldn't draw conclusions, they were both painful no matter what was done.

Dr. Gieringer determined that due to the night pain, the weakness, and the persistence of the employee's pain, a MRI was needed to determine if the employee had a rotator cuff tear.
  Dr. Gieringer ordered x-rays and a MRI.

The x-rays revealed a higher than average likelihood of subacromial impingement due to type III acromion, but the shoulder was otherwise normal.
  The MRI findings suggested subacromial impingement with an extensive wide supraspinatus tear and long head biceps tendonitis.
  Arthroscopic decompression and rotator cuff repair surgery was performed on September 3, 2002.  Dr. Gieringer referred the employee to post-operative physical therapy and followed her progress.

At the employer’s request, Holm Neumann, M.D., Ph.D., Orthopedic Surgeon, evaluated the employee.  
Dr. Neumann noted:

Ms. Merin denies any previous treatment for low back problems or shoulder problems prior to the claim incident of March 15, 2001.  She denies any subsequent injuries since that time.  She denies any nonvocational activities contributing to her condition.
 

Upon review of the employee’s imaging studies, Dr. Neumann concurred with the findings of her lumbar spine and right shoulder as noted in the records.  His impression was as follows:

1. Degenerative disk disease and degenerative joint disease multiple level with herniated nucleus pulposus status post lumbar laminectomy at L4-L5 with decompression and disk excision.

2. Lumbosacral sprain/strain injury secondary to the claim incident of March 15, 2001, superimposed upon her underlying disease.  It appears that her herniation is sufficient with this incident.

3. Rotator cuff tendinitis with impingement and rotator cuff tear of the right shoulder, post operative status decompression and rotator cuff repair right shoulder by patient history.  By history, it appears that rotator cuff tear was a result of the incident of March 15, 2001, probably associated with underlying degenerative changes in the rotator cuff.

Based upon Dr. Sobolesky’s account of the employee’s past medical history indicating employee had same or similar symptoms in the past, the employer asked Dr. Neumann to question the employee relative to her history of medical treatment for cervical, thoracic and lumbar spine and right shoulder complaints.  Dr. Neumann noted that the employee “denied any treatment for low back problems or shoulder problems in the past prior to the claim incident of March 15, 2001.”

Dr. Neumann was asked his opinion regarding whether or not the findings on the employee's June 29, 2002 MRI are consistent with the mechanism of the employee's injury, and whether or not the employee would have had immediate pain associated with the symptoms.  Dr. Neumann responded as follows:

The supraspinatus tear and possible long head biceps tendinitis can be conditions associative with the twisting, lifting, and rotating motion which would be necessary in moving the filing cabinet.  She states that she did have immediate pain associated with the symptoms.  She is of the impression that these were just not documented in the records.

Dr. Neumann had no recommendations for further treatment of the employee’s cervical spine complaints.  With regard to treatment of the employee's low back, Dr. Neumann recommended over-the-counter analgesics or nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medications.
  

Further, Dr. Neumann indicated the shoulder surgery the employee had appeared to be reasonable.  He mentioned that he did not have a copy of the operative report, but that according to the employee's history, she had a rotator cuff tear large enough to require extensive surgery.
  Dr. Neumann opined the employee was unable to return to work because she had just had surgery; however, he anticipated she would be able to return to work activities within three to four months.
  

Dr. Neumann opined that the employee’s lumbar spine condition became stationary and stable, reaching medical stability, within a six-month period of time following her lumbar spine surgery.  However, Dr. Neumann indicated it was premature to estimate the employee’s physical limitations or to rate the employee’s lumbar spine, because the employee was totally immobilized in her right shoulder after surgery.

At the request of the employer, Dr. Neumann clarified his September 13, 2004 report in an addendum dated September 26, 2002.  Specifically, the employer asked whether or not the injury of March 15, 2001, was a substantial factor in the employee’s shoulder symptoms for which she commenced treatment in the spring/summer of 2002.  In opining that the March 15, 2001 incident was a substantial factor in the employee’s symptoms and need for treatment, Dr. Neumann offered the following:

On reviewing Ms. Merin's records and my independent medical examination report of September 13, 2002, I am of the opinion that this is, indeed, the case.  I am of the opinion that the incident of trauma of March 15, 2001, presents with a mechanism of injury which would be compatible with the development of the diagnosis I made of rotator cuff tendinitis with impingement, and rotator cuff tear of the right shoulder.

I am of the opinion that the injury of March 15, 2001, was superimposed upon some underlying degenerative changes in the rotator cuff, but the substantial factor in the immediate need for treatment was the result of an increase in the pathology and probable development of the rotator cuff tear as a result of the injury in question.

On April 30, 2003, Dr. Gieringer reported the employee had good range of motion, good strength and showed significant improvement, nearly nine months since he performed surgery on a very large, “almost unrepairable” rotator cuff tear in the employee’s right shoulder.  At that time, Dr. Gieringer determined the employee needed additional physical therapy.

Michel L. Gevaert, M.D., treated the employee’s lumbar spine condition.  In his absence, Edward M. Voke, M.D., saw the employee on June 4, 2003, and indicated the employee would not require a lumbar fusion if she continued to improve.

On June 5, 2003, Dr. Gieringer reported the employee was released from physical therapy for her shoulder, but was still having issues related to her back; and was not able to return to her previous work due to her back condition.  Dr. Gieringer considered the employee’s right shoulder procedure successful and its condition medically stable. He indicated she would have to return for an impairment rating, and that she was a candidate for vocational rehabilitation.

The employee had a selective nerve root block followed by an epidural steroid injection.  On June 11, 2003, 
Dr. Gevaert’s impression was lumbar radiculopathy with partial pain relief following an epidural steroid injection.
 

By July 9, 2003, the employee’s pain was unabated.  Therefore, Dr. Gevaert ordered an EMG
 and nerve conduction study.  His impression was subacute left L5 radiculopathy.
  Electrodiagnostic consultation revealed chronic incomplete modeling without acute denervation at the left L5 myotome; and sampling of the left lower paraspinal muscles revealed increased polyphasicity at the L5-S1 level without acute denervation.  Dr. Gevaert’s impression was chronic left L5 radiculopathy.  Further, he found the EMG was congruent with the employee’s symptomology in the left L5 dermatomal distribution.  He recommended the employee continue with the conservative approach to treatment to include pain management and a self-directed exercise program to improve aerobic condition.

On July 23, 2003, Dr. Gieringer evaluated the employee for a permanent partial impairment of her right shoulder condition.  At the time of rating, Dr. Gieringer considered the employee’s condition stable, and did not expect improvement from that point forward.  He rated the employee as follows:

She has some deficits of flexion, abduction and adduction, as well as very slight deficits in rotation strength and reduction strength, for which I gave her 2, 2, 1 and 1% each respectively, as well as 10% for the arthroplasty that was done.  That gives her 16% to the upper extremity and 10% whole person impairment, according to the Fifth Edition of the American Medical Association Guidelines.

Dr. Gieringer found the employee had the physical capacity to perform the work of a Supervisor of Cashiers and as a Ticket Seller.

At the employer’s request, Dr. Neumann performed a second evaluation of the employee on August 21, 2003.  On this date, his impressions were:

1. Degenerative disk disease and degenerative joint disease of a lumbar spine, multilevel, pre-existing the claim incident of March 15, 2001.

2. Post status lumbar laminectomy and decompression with disk excision at L4 - L5 for herniated disk at this level.

3. Sprain/strain injury of the lumbar spine secondary to the incident of March 15, 2001, which was superimposed upon her degenerative condition above.

4. Rotator cuff tendinitis and rotator cuff tear of the right shoulder which appears to be from degenerative changes with the superimposed injury of the time of March 15, 2001, bringing about the rotator cuff tear and requiring surgery.  She is post status of her surgical procedure consisting of a decompression, acromioclavicular arthroplasty, and rotator cuff repair.  She did have some acromioclavicular arthritis which pre-existed her incident of March 15, 2001.

At this time, range of motion measurements of the employee’s lumbar spine were performed using the double inclinometer method of measurement, and recorded as follows:

Flexion:


70º

Extension:


22º

Right Lateral Bending

26º

Left Lateral Bending

28º

When Dr. Neumann conducted the September 13, 2002 evaluation of the employee, he did not have an opportunity to review the medical records of the employee's prior treatment involving her lumbar spine, cervical spine, and right shoulder complaints.  Dr. Neumann reported the employee had denied a prior history of shoulder or back condition.  After having an opportunity to review records of the employee’s treatment prior to the work incident, Dr. Neumann provided opinions regarding whether the March 15, 2001 injury was a substantial factor in the employee's need for treatment.  Dr. Neumann opined that the employee had a sprain/strain injury of the lumbar spine, superimposed upon her degenerative changes and that the incident of March 15, 2001 was a substantial factor in bringing about a herniated nucleus pulposus, and the need for treatment.  With regard to the employee's right shoulder condition, Dr. Neumann opined that the employee had pre-existing degenerative changes.  He indicated she had a superimposed injury, which produced a rotator cuff tear and the need for repair.
  As the basis for his opinion, Dr. Neumann stated, “the mechanism of injury as described by the claimant in moving the heavy filing cabinet would be consistent with the development of the diagnostic condition from the March 15, 2001, incident.”

Dr. Neumann was asked to provide his opinion regarding whether he believed the March 15, 2001 injury was a temporary aggravation of the employee's pre-existing low back in shoulder conditions.  He opined as follows:

I am of the impression that she had an aggravation of her pre-existing low back condition.  She had a temporary sprain/strain injury, but she did have a further aggravation of her degenerative disk disease which brought about the need for treatment.  The changes are probably permanent.

In regards to her shoulder, again she had a superimposed injury on her pre-existing degenerative changes in the rotator cuff area which produced an impingement and tear as a result of the March 15, 2001, incident which brought about the need for surgical management.

With regard to when the employee reached medical stability, Dr. Neumann opined:

I am of the impression that she has reached medical stability for both her low back and her shoulder.  I would anticipate her sprain symptoms resolving in a three to four month period.  Would anticipate that her low back condition would become stationary and stable within a four to six months period of time postoperatively.

In regards to her shoulder, usually I would anticipate an eight to nine months period of time prior to becoming stationary and stable.  By the chart records, however, this appears to have been delayed in it appears that she was markedly improved by June 5, 2003; however, in the records that is also noted that she was improved on April 30, 2003.

Dr. Neumann provided a rating for permanent impairment associated with the employee's lumbar spine and right shoulder conditions using the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition.  
Dr. Neumann gave the employee's right shoulder condition a 10 percent whole person impairment rating.  When rating the employee's lumbar spine condition, Dr. Neumann found that the employee fit criteria for the DRE category III, which is the equivalent of a 10 to 13 percent impairment.  He provided her with a 13 percent impairment rating.
  Dr. Neumann indicated there was no information available in the record to indicate evidence of a permanent impairment pre-existing the employee's March 15 2001 work-related injury.

On September 4, 2003, Dr. Voke followed up with the employee instead of Dr. Gevaert because the employee did not want any further injections.  Dr. Voke reiterated his position that the employee was offered conservative care and hopes that she can live with the pain and prosper normally; however, if this is not the case, surgical intervention will be necessary.  Dr. Voke ordered that the employee continue with physical therapy two times a week for six weeks.  Further, he indicated she should not work for six weeks because she cannot stand due to the pain.  Dr. Voke noted he would like to review the EME report.

On November 13, 2003, the employee was seen in follow-up with Dr. Voke for her low back.  Dr. Voke indicated the employee could not work due to back pain.  Again, Dr. Voke noted that he would like to review the employee's EME report.  Because the employee was unable to get permission for further physical therapy, 
Dr. Voke directed her to continue swimming.  He indicated she was not medically stable and that retraining should be considered.  He noted that a lumbar laminectomy had not yet been ruled out.

Dr. Voke followed up with the employee on December 16, 2003.  He ordered an MRI for purposes of determining if surgical intervention was necessary.  Dr. Voke again noted he would like a copy of the EME report.
  
Dr. Voke determined the employee was unable to return to her previous job because it required prolonged standing and sitting, and that she would require retraining.
  The MRI taken on January 26, 2004, demonstrated interval development of focal disc extrusion at L5-S1.  Post surgical changes at L5-S1 were noted, as was central disc protrusion at L4-L5, and broad-based disk bulge at L3-L4.

Dr. Voke discussed the results of the MRI with the employee, in addition to the EME report.  Dr. Voke indicated the employee was not medically stable and could not return to the same type of work she was performing prior to her injury.  Surgery was put on hold to explore the option of the employee finding work that was less arduous with less strain on her back.  Dr. Voke believed if the employee could find such work, she may be able to avoid surgery.  
Dr. Voke indicated, that based upon his interpretation of the recent MRI, the employee has a recurrent disc herniation.

Dr. Voke saw the employee again on February 26, 2004.  He indicated the employee was not medically stable.  Dr. Voke stated:

She can be made medically stable as soon as she involves herself in vocational rehabilitation.  At that time she will obviously have chosen to go that route rather than submit to a surgical lumbar laminectomy.  When she becomes medically stable and rated by myself she needs to maintain that her medical case remain open.  She will return in a month for follow up.

Her entire chart should represent the fact we were waiting to see whether or not she could live with her ongoing pain and problems as she received a fair result from her first surgery and has never been pain free.  She is a credible individual, and I have had no problems while taking care of her.

Dr. Neumann, at the request of the employer, performed a third employer’s medical evaluation of the employee on April 5, 2004.  For purposes of the evaluation, Dr. Neumann reviewed additional medical records dating from February 23, 2003 to April 2, 2004 and records preexisting the claim incident.  These records are from the following dates:  September 30, 1999, October 1, 1999, October 29, 1999, February 21, 2001, and 
February 28, 2001.

On April 5, 2004, the range of motion measurements of the employee’s lumbar spine were performed using the double inclinometer method of measurement and recorded as follows:

Flexion:


60º

Extension:


20º

Right Lateral Bending

22º

Left Lateral Bending

24º 

Based upon Dr. Neumann’s review of the additional records, his previous impression changed to the following:

1. Degenerative disc disease, degenerative joint disease lumbar and sacral spine, multi-level, preexisting claim at 03/15/01.

2. Status post lumbar laminectomy and disc excision L4-L5.

3. Sprain/strain lumbar spine due to incident of 03/15/01.

4. Rotator cuff tendoinitis and degenerative changes, right shoulder with superimposed sprain/strain injury due to incident of 03/15/01 (the temporary aggravation of symptoms).

5. Pre-existing degenerative arthritis at acromioclavicular joint of the right shoulder.

6. Herniation of nucleus pulposus L5-S1.

7. Degenerative disc disease, degenerative joint disease of cervical and thoracic spine, unrelated to the incident of 03/15/01.

Prior to entering into discussion regarding the employee’s low back and right shoulder conditions, Dr. Neumann stated:

Review of cover letter dated April 2, 2004, from Christi Niemann, Certified Legal Assistant.  The claimant’s available records were reviewed, a history was taken, and physical examination was carried out.  My impressions in this claimant's case are currently based on information from the sources.

Dr. Neumann opined that the employee’s prognosis was guarded.  He advised the employee should avoid narcotic pain medications “as much as possible.”  He opined epidural steroid injections would possibly benefit the employee's herniated disc at L5-S1.  He opined that nerve block/injections for pain relief were not indicated; nor was rhizotomy/radiofrequency ablation of the nerves, IDET, racz catheter, or spinal cord stimulator.  He opined that additional physical therapy may be of benefit on a palliative basis and that a trial of acupuncture with 10 treatments would be reasonable in the employee's case.
 

Dr. Neumann opined that spinal surgery, including a repeat lumbar laminectomy or spinal fusion was a reasonable possibility if the employee had any increase in chronic pain or developed neurological impairment of progression.  He opined this would be indicated for the employee's L5-S1 disc based upon recent imaging studies.  Further, 
Dr. Neumann opined that the employee's progressive degenerative disc disease and degenerative joint disease are not related to her claim incident of March 15, 2001.
  

Dr. Neumann’s opinion regarding the employee’s right shoulder was “unchanged for the same reasons he stated in the past.”  Dr. Neumann opined the employee’s preexisting problems were clinically compatible with the degenerative condition in the employee’s right shoulder.  He opined that it was the degenerative condition, and not the March 15, 2001 injury, that brought about the employee’s need for shoulder surgery.  With regard to the March 15, 2001 incident’s effect upon the employee’s shoulder, Dr. Neumann opined:

The claim incident of March 15, 2001, is related in that I felt there was a temporary aggravation with the strain injury of the shoulder which was superimposed upon her underlying progressive degenerative condition.

In addressing whether the employee’s shoulder and low back conditions were medically stable, Dr. Neumann opined as follows:

With regard to her shoulder, I am of the impression that she is stationary and stable.

With regard to her back condition and its relationship to the March 15, 2001, incident, I feel that she is medically stable and stationary.  She, in my opinion, does have an L5-S1 herniated nucleus pulposus, which is related to her progressive degenerative condition in the spine.  This condition, in my opinion, is not stationary and stable at present time and it is not related to her incident of 
March 15, 2001.

Dr. Neumann reassessed the permanent partial impairment of the employee’s low back, taking into consideration medical records documenting low back symptoms prior to the March 15, 2001 work injury, and the possibility of a pre-existing permanent impairment in the employee’s spine.  Dr. Neumann continued to place the employee in a category III, and opined that the motion measurements taken on February 21, 2001 were normal for the employee and did not represent a pre-existing permanent impairment.

With regard to the employee’s shoulder, in reassessing the permanent partial impairment, Dr. Neumann compared the employee's range of motion measurements from April 5, 2004, with those of August 21, 2003, Dr. Gieringer’s
 of July 23, 2003, and the measurements of October 1, 1999, and determined that the April 5, 2004 findings showed an improvement.  On August 21, 2003, Dr. Neumann calculated a whole person impairment rating of 10 percent; the same rating arrived at by Dr. Gieringer on July 23, 2003.  Based upon the April 5, 2004 range of motion values, Dr. Neumann gave the employee a four percent whole person impairment rating, and opined that his findings do not demonstrate a worsening from the 1999 measured values.

On April 6, 2004, Dr. Voke found the employee to be medically stable based upon the fact there were no changes with regard to her back and leg.  He indicated the employee needed a Physical Capacities Evaluation, that she would be able to perform light sedentary work, lifting no more than ten pounds, that she could work a 40 hour week, but required an accommodation that would allow her to stand, walk, and sit at will during an eight-hour period of employment per day.  With regard to the employee’s medical stability, Dr. Voke stated, “The patient has already been rated by the EME physician.  I do not agree she was medically stable in the past.  She is medically stable today however.”

While in New York to visit her family, and at the suggestion of Dr. Voke, the employee went back to Dr. Epstein with a complaint of back pain that never went away after the September 13, 2001 surgery.  Dr. Epstein noted the employee’s pain was markedly exacerbated as of December 2003; that the employee underwent a complex right rotator cuff repair in September 2002 that was extremely painful and interfered with the employee’s physical therapy and swimming regime for her back; and that in October 2003 the employee returned East for five weeks to assist her mother when her father died.

Dr. Epstein reviewed the January 26, 2004 MRI of the employee’s lumbar spine.  According to Dr. Epstein:

It shows “interval development of disc herniation at 5-1 with non-enhancing disc material on the post-contrast images.”  This is actually incorrect to call this a recurrent disc, as her prior disc herniation was present at the 4-5 level.  Post-op laminectomy defect is actually additionally visualized at that 4-5 level.  The trans-axial images show, at the present time, indeed, between April 2003 and January 2004, a new, soft, sequestrated disc component on the left at the L5-S1 level.

Dr. Epstein indicated conservative management was appropriate, as the employee’s symptoms at the time were relatively mild.
 

At the request of the employer, Dr. Neumann reviewed additional records and provided an addendum to his previous reports.  Dr. Neumann noted that the records from September 30, 1999, October 29, 1999, February 21, 2001, and February 28, 2001, indicate that the employee received treatment prior to the injury of March 15, 2001, and that the employee did have preexisting disease in her shoulder and back.
  Further, Dr. Neumann opined, based upon the additional information, that whether or not the employee had the injury of March 15, 2001, she would have needed the surgery to her shoulder; and that the incident of March 15, 2001 was not a substantial factor in necessitating surgery.
  Finally, Dr. Neumann opined that no permanent impairment to the employee’s back or shoulder resulted from the March 15, 2001 incident.

On June 1, 2004, the employer controverted medical and disability benefits related to the employee’s shoulder condition; PPI benefits; medical and disability benefits relating to the employee's L5-S1 herniated nucleus pulposus, degenerative disc disease and degenerative joint disease of the cervical thoracic, lumbar and sacral spine; temporary disability benefits subsequent to August 21, 2003; and all vocational reemployment/rehabilitation benefits.
  The controversion was based upon Dr. Neumann’s April 5, 2004 and April 28, 2004 reports.
  

On June 7, 2004, Edward M. Voke, M.D., evaluated the employee for a permanent partial impairment rating for her lumbar spine.  Dr. Voke’s diagnosis was degenerative disc disease, lumbosacral spine and post lumbar decompression laminectomy, L4-5 bilaterally.  Dr. Voke stated his conclusions as follows:

I do not agree with the IME.  Unless I am mistaken I believe the IME suggests the patient would have a zero permanent partial impairment rating which is not appropriate.  Based on the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, Fifth Edition, Lumbar Spine Category III, the patient would have a 10 percent permanent partial impairment rating based on the above.

I do not feel an MRI is necessary at this time.  I agree with the surgeon that ongoing conservative management should prevail.  The patient should be referred to Rehabilitation Medicine Associates for a Physical Capacities Evaluation so she can continue her employment.  She would be qualified for sedentary inside employment, lifting no more than ten pounds.  She should be allowed to sit, stand, and walk during an eight-hour period of time.  She will not need to return here unless there is a problem.

A physical capacities evaluation was conducted by Alan Blizzard, PT, on June 29, 2004.  His recommendations were as follows:

Based on Ms. Merin’s current physical capacity evaluation, it would be recommended that if vocational reeducation is undertaken that she be provided with a job with a light/sedentary strength demand level with the combinations of a workstation that allows her to go from sit to stand as needed secondary pain and only infrequent activities that would involve a stooping posture.  If these were able to be substituted with a kneeling and squatting posture, these could be listed as occasional activities.  Other accommodations would be only occasional bouts of prolonged walking and only occasional bouts what would require any balance on elevated surfaces.  Based on further testing, no other significant accommodations were evidenced during this physical capacity evaluation.

On June 30, 2004, as part of an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits, Consulting Analyses Surveys Evaluations requested information from Dr. Neumann because the employee’s attending physician declined to comment on relevant information essential to determining the employee’s eligibility for reemployment benefits.  With regard to future treatments anticipated for the employee, Dr. Neumann opined that palliative care would be necessary indefinitely, and that if neurological impairments developed, the employee could possibly need a prescription for HNP L5-S1.
  

Dr. Neumann indicated the employee was medically stable on April 5, 2004, for all conditions but L5-S1 herniated nucleus pulposus, and that he did not know the current status of that condition.
  He indicated the employee was medically stable to participate in planning and participating in a re-employment plan.  Dr. Neumann was unaware of the fact that a physical capacities evaluation had been completed, and proceeded to review and provide his opinion as to whether or not it was reasonable for the employee to perform the duties as described in the job descriptions.  Dr. Neumann opined the employee could perform the duties of a Training Representative, Group-Sales Representative, and Ticket Seller.

On July 21, 2004, Douglas G. Smith, M.D., Orthopedic Consultant, conducted a Board ordered second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”).  Dr. Smith’s diagnostic impression was as follows:

1. Chronic low back and left leg pain.

a. Sprain/strain 3/15/01.

b. Multilevel degenerative disc disease, MRI 7/11/01 and x-ray 7/23/01.

c. Left L4-5 disc herniation, MRI 7/11/01.

d. Left L5 radiculopathy, exam by Dr. Godersky.

e. Status post lumbar laminectomy and decompression L4-5 9/13/01.

2. Chronic right shoulder pain.

a. Symptoms and treatment 10/99.

b. Symptoms and treatment to/21, 2/23, 2/26, 2/20, 3/2/01.

c. Alleged injury 3/15/01.

d. Subacromial impingement and rotator cuff tear, MRI 6/29/02.

e. Status post acromioplasty, to see arthroplasty and rotator cuff repair, 9/3/02.

Dr. Smith found the employee's description of the injury as described in the medical records, and to be consistent with the diagnosis of her low back problem.  Dr. Smith opined that no further specific treatment was indicated relative to the employee's low back condition or right shoulder condition.
  

With regard to the employee's low back condition, Dr. Smith recognized the employee had previous back complaints; however, it was his impression that something happened on March 15, 2001, which significantly altered the employee's low back condition.  Dr. Smith did not doubt that there is pre-existing degenerative disc disease in the employee's low back before March 15, 2001.  However, he opined that the March 15, 2001 injury was substantially related to the development of the disc herniation and radiculopathy, which was eventually treated by surgery.  The basis for Dr. Smith's opinion was that although the employee had low back symptoms, they were different in nature and severity than those developed subsequent to March 15, 2001.  In addition, he indicated the type of disc herniation superimposed on degenerative disc disease was consistent with the employee's injury.

Dr. Smith found that the medical records did not indicate that the employee's right shoulder problem, which subsequently was treated surgically, was substantially related to the employee's March 15, 2001 work injury.  He found, based upon the medical records, that the employee had been treated prior to the accident for shoulder problems at least once or twice in October of 1999.  In addition he found she had right shoulder complaints starting with chiropractor visits on February 21, 2001; that the complaints were recorded and treated, and did not resolve prior to the March 15, 2001 industrial accident date.  His remarks regarding whether or not the March 15, 2001 incident was a substantial factor in the employee’s shoulder condition were as follows:

It may have been her shoulder symptoms continued during the time after accident, however, that does not convince me that the accident was a substantial factor relative to causing the shoulder problems that had to be treated surgically.

This view would be further substantiated by the note from Dr. Epstein in New York on November 16, 2001 where she notes right shoulder discomfort, as well as proximal right arm weakness, which was new in onset.

Finally, although it is a little ambiguous, the chiropractor note dated February 21, 2001 notes right shoulder pain, stiffness, soreness and weakness.  Following that it states that this “began two years ago, it occurs frequently, it is aggravated by reaching, lifting” and under the category of pre-existing the answer was marked “yes.”  Someone might think this was related to the back problem, but the symptomology sounds to me like it is more likely related to the pre-existing right shoulder problem.

Dr. Smith opined that the March 15, 2001 injury aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the pre-existing condition to produce the need for medical treatment and low back disability.
  Dr. Smith opined that the aggravation of the underlying disc degeneration with a disc herniation and radiculopathy produced a permanent change, in spite of a surgical intervention.
  

Dr. Smith did not believe the March 15, 2001 injury aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the pre-existing condition to produce the need for medical treatment of or the disability in the employee's right shoulder.
  
Dr. Smith indicated that the pre-existing symptoms in the employee's right shoulder were similar to those that continued after the March 15, 2001 incident, and the alternate cause would have been impingement of the congenital development of the acromion relative to the rotator cuff and possibly injuries in 1999 or some other date.
  Opining that the employee’s shoulder condition was not related to the March 15, 2001 incident, Dr. Smith did not provide a date for medical stability.

Dr. Smith opined that the employee reached medical stability for the low back condition around the timeframe of 
July 16, 2003.  He noted the employee had relief of a temporary nature of back and leg symptoms from an epidural steroid injection at the end of May 2003; he opined, if this was significant improvement, medical stability would be 45 days after that date, on July 16, 2003.

Dr. Smith found the employee had an impairment of the lumbar spine area relative to the March 15, 2001 incident.  He opined she falls under DRE Lumbar Category III, which has a range of 10 to 13 percent whole person impairment.  Dr. Smith chose a 12 percent impairment because the employee was within that category and had continued significant symptomology.

Dr. Smith provided an impairment rating for the employee’s shoulder with the caveat that he did not believe her shoulder condition was related to the job incident of March 15, 2001.  He opined she had a range of motion measurement impairment of the upper extremity, in addition to undergoing an acromioclavicular arthroplasty; using the combined values tables he indicated this translates to a eight percent whole person impairment.

Dr. Gieringer saw the employee on April 21, 2005, for a brief exam and review of the SIME report.  Dr. Gieringer expressed one disagreement with Dr. Smith's evaluation at page 8, where Dr. Smith states, “… her right shoulder problem, which was subsequently treated surgically was not related to the industrial accident. . . . The chiropractor's note, which was ambiguous, dated February 1, 2001, notes right shoulder pain, stiffness, soreness and weakness and therefore her shoulder was related to pre-existing right shoulder problem.”  With regard to Dr. Smith's conclusions, Dr. Gieringer stated:

I have a problem with his conclusion that she may have had a pre-existing condition in her right shoulder, that is pretty well established.  But after lifting this file case, she had a substantial change in the pain in her right shoulder.  She was having a pain in her right shoulder, which had not been present previously, so whatever happened when lifting the file case, created a substantially different situation in her shoulder than what had been present previously in that shoulder.  Therefore, I think that her industrial injury of March 15, 2001, was a substantial aggravation of a pre-existing condition in her shoulder.

II. MEDICAL HISTORY PRIOR TO MARCH 15, 2001

On March 6, 1978, Declan R. Nolan, M.D., treated the employee for “possible subacute disc syndrome.”  X-rays for the employee’s lumbar spine revealed no abnormalities; exam revealed a full range of motion; and no neurological deficit was detected.  Dr. Nolan advised intermittent horizontal rest and flexion exercises.  The employee was to return to Dr. Nolan if she did not improve in 10 days.

The employee was involved in a motor vehicle accident on December 19, 1991, in which her vehicle was struck from behind.  Upon examination on January 17, 1991, George B. von Wichman, M.D., indicated that on examination and on x-rays, the findings were consistent with a cervical sprain.  Further, he indicated that three lateral views of the employee’s cervical spine showed no disc pathology.
  The employee returned to 
Dr. vWichman on December 13, 1991 with cervical pain.  Dr. vWichman indicated the employee had a cervical sprain superimposed on pre-existing degeneration of C5-6 cervical disc.
  Again on December 17, 1992, the employee went back to Dr. vWichman because she was experiencing discomfort on certain occasions in her neck.  The employee’s examination was normal, as well as three lateral views of the cervical spine obtained on 
December 17, 1992.  Dr. vWichman indicated the employee had mild pre-existing degenerative changes involving her lower cervical discs, but that he did not see anything serious and “that the chances are that she will be all right, but the ultimate decision is up to her about settlement with the insurance carrier.”

On May 10, 1996, the employee was seen for a flare up of cervical disc disease at C5-6 after a work related motor vehicle accident that occurred on April 26, 1996.  Cervical spine films showed the employee had a trace of degenerative disc disease at C5-6, and foraminal encroachment.  There was no collapse, but she had some osteophytes. The employee was treated with physical therapy and a home exercise program.
  

X-rays taken on December 11, 1996, when compared to those taken on May 10, 1996, did not show a difference at C5-6, continuing to show mild to moderate degenerative disease.  An MRI of the cervical spine revealed:

Mild foraminal narrowing bilaterally C2-C3, C3-C4, and C4-C5 by some small spurs.  In the lumbar formation posteriorly across the disc margin at C5-C6 naturally indenting the sub arachnoid space without producing cord compression.  Bilateral foraminal narrowing C5-C6, greater on the right by spurring.

Richard W. Garner, M.D., followed up with the employee on December 19, 1996.  He indicated the MRI showed a marked spondylotic bar at C5-C6, with little change at any other level.  The employee reported her symptoms had gradually worsened over time and that she was having episodes of numbness in her arm and aching down into the arm, and prior to the most recent accident she was not troubled with arm symptoms and had only intermittent neck problems.  Dr. Garner indicated that the employee did not have an acute disc herniation, rather aggravation of pre-existing situation, because she was known to have C5-C6 degenerative change prior to the accident of April 1996.
  Dr. Garner referred the employee to Alaska Rehabilitation Medicine for electrodiagnostic studies, which revealed cervical spondylosis with residual neck pain.
  Sean Hadley, M.D., indicated the employee had a separate extensor tendinitis on the right with no electrodiagnostic evidence of the cervical radiculopathy or distal entrapment neuropathy.
  Upon review of Dr. Hadley's report, Dr. Garner examined the employee and found she had localized tenderness over the right lateral epicondyle consistent with extensor tendinitis.
  On March 4, 1997, Dr. Garner referred the employee to Dr. Hadley for a permanent partial impairment rating and assumption of care.  On April 2, 1997, Dr. Hadley found the employee to be medically stable with regard to her April 1996 injury.  He provided a permanent impairment rating using the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 4th Edition.  Dr. Hadley found the employee’s impairment fell into DRV cervicothoracic category II: minor impairment, without radiculopathy, yielding a total PPI of five percent of the whole person.

At the request of State Farm Insurance Company, Jonathan Schleimer, M.D., reviewed medical records for the employee’s claim against the automobile insurance policy of the individual driving the vehicle that struck the employee’s.  Dr. Schleimer recommended that State Farm Insurance approve the employee’s initial treatment with Dr. Garner on May 10, 1996, and the initial course of physical therapy for a time period not to exceed three months from the date of the motor vehicle.  He further advised that subsequent treatment on December 1996 not be authorized.  He considered the employee’s symptoms at that time to be related to a pre-existing condition of cervical spondylosis and from a natural progression of the pre-existing condition.  Dr. Schleimer found Dr. Hadley's assessment of the employee's impairment to be appropriate, however, he apportioned the impairment to the pre-existing condition and not the vehicle accident.

On September 30, 1999, Dr. Nolte examined the employee for neck and shoulder pain.  Dr. Nolte noted that the employee's shoulder and neck were injured in 1995 when the employee was involved in an “on the job” car accident.
  Dr. Nolte indicated the employee had been doing well up until she was moved to a temporary office space, which was not ergonomically correct; thereby causing the recurrence of the employee's neck and shoulder pain.  The employee was referred to Alaska Hand Rehabilitation.  On her initial visit on October 1, 1999, significant clinical findings were reported as follows:

1. AROM right shoulder; flexion 90º, abduction 100º, external rotation 40º, internal rotation 30º

2. Anterior tenderness, most acute over coracoid

On October 29, 1999, the employee was discharged to a home program.  The clinical findings upon discharge were as follows:

1. Full AROM right shoulder

2. C-Spine and upper trapezius tightness

III. WITNESS TESTIMONY

A. Nancy Merin
The employee testified via deposition on March 9, 2004 and May 26, 2005, and at the August 2, 2005 hearing.  

The employee testified that she worked for the employer for 12 years, initially as a ticket seller, then an assistant manager, and a trainer.  As a trainer, she testified that she regularly carried boxes of tickets, envelopes, ticket stock, and updated event listings.  Additionally, she testified that she carried a bag on her right shoulder filled with supplies she used for training, and that the bag weighed between 20 and 25 pounds.

The employee testified that in late September, early October 1999, she was working from a temporary work station that had previously been used by an individual who was six feet tall, and the desk was still on stilts.  After one month at this work station, she testified she received one month of physical therapy for muscle spasms.  

The employee testified that when she moved the file cabinet from the curb to the back of a truck on March 15, 2001, she felt a pop in her back and her shoulder.  She testified that the very next day she went to Fairbanks to conduct training and was required to move a computer, and boxes of ticket stock, envelopes, and event listings.  In addition, she testified that she carried her filled shoulder bag on her shoulder.

The employee testified that after March 15, 2001, the intensity of pain in her shoulder far increased any previous pain she had experienced.  She testified that not only was the pain more severe, but she could not grip, and it kept her from sleeping at night.  She testified that the pain was continuous and did not abate.  The employee testified that she initially received treatment from Dr. Sobolesky for both her shoulder and her back, then she went to Dr. Nolte for pain medication.  She testified that she was then referred to Dr. Godersky and required surgery on her back.  The employee testified she went to New York because her father had a heart attack, and while there, she received a second opinion from Dr. Epstein, who also advised surgery was necessary.  The employee testified that Dr. Epstein performed surgery in September 2001.  She testified that after her surgery, she was not taking as many pain pills and it was at that time that her shoulder pain increased.    

The employee testified that after she returned to Alaska, Dr. Nolte referred her to Dr. Gieringer.  The employee testified that in April 2002 Dr. Gieringer ordered an MRI, which revealed a torn rotator cuff.  The employee testified she had surgery on September 3, 2002, and Dr. Gieringer reported that her rotator cuff was so badly torn, it was almost irreparable.

The employee testified that she was taking Vicodin for the pain she experienced after shoulder surgery when Dr. Neumann evaluated her, and she does not remember the extent of her conversation with him regarding prior shoulder treatment.  She testified she does recall telling Dr. Neumann that she did not have the type of shoulder problems before the March 15, 2001 injury as she had after.

She testified that when she was evaluated by Dr. Smith, he saw her briefly and mentioned to her that he had not looked at her records yet.  She testified that because she was not concerned regarding the issue of causation, she did not go into great detail with Dr. Smith regarding the difference in the pain in her shoulder before and after the March 15, 2001 injury.

The employee testified she initially saw Dr. Sobolesky on a consultative basis on a whim.  She testified that she completed a document where she checked off boxes, and based upon the boxes checked off, Dr. Sobolesky’s report came out.  The employee testified that in completing the form, she mentioned anything that ever bothered her in any way.  She testified that she checked off her right shoulder because she had pain from carrying around a lot of training materials, boxes of ticket stock, event books, and training books, and from carrying her shoulder bag for work that weighed between 25 to 30 pounds.

The employee testified that she did have conditions in her shoulder before March 15, 2001, from a car accident in 1995 and the temporary work station in 1999.  She testified that these conditions resolved with physical therapy.  She testified that after physical therapy in 1999, she had full range of motion in her shoulder.  The employee testified that one month after the March 15, 2001 injury, it was hard to grip and she had severe restriction in her range of motion.  The employee gave the following examples:  she could not hold up her hair dryer, she could not carry her shoulder bag to training sessions, she could not sleep at night due to the pain in her shoulder, she could not sustain a stirring motion, and she could not raise her arm to wash windows.  The employee testified that she did not raise her shoulder or arm up because it was too painful.  The employee testified that the shoulder symptoms she experienced from the 1995 car accident and the temporary work station in 1999, were unlike those she experienced after the March 15, 2001 injury.  She testified that the first time she ever lost sleep and experienced pain at night was after the March 15, 2001 injury.

The employee testified that between July 2001 and November 2001 she focused on her back, not on her shoulder.  She testified that because her back pain was so severe, she ignored the pain in her shoulder.  She testified that she did not think about her shoulder and did not lift her arm.  She testified to the more pressing issue was dealing with her back condition, and therefore had no treatment on her shoulder.  The employee testified that Dr. Epstein's mention of “new onset” right shoulder, in her November 16, 2001 letter to Dr. Godersky, was basically correct.  She testified that Dr. Epstein was reluctant to perform surgery on an out-of-state injured worker involved in the workers’ compensation system; and, consequently, the employee was hesitant to mention the issues with her shoulder.  Further, she testified that the pain in her shoulder became more prominent after the back surgery because she was no longer taking as many pain medications.  

The employee testified that what is in Dr. Neumann's September 13, 2002 report is not what she recalls to be the content of her communication with Dr. Neumann.  The employee testified that Dr. Neumann did not dictate his report in her presence, nor did he give her an opportunity to review his report for accuracy.  The employee testified that Dr. Smith did not give her an opportunity to review his report for accuracy either.  

B. Holm Neumann, M.D.

Dr. Neumann testified that he is a board-certified orthopedic surgeon and for the past 12 to 14 years his practice has focused on medical legal consulting work.

Dr. Neumann testified that in conducting his evaluation of the employee, she categorically denied previous treatment of her right shoulder.  Dr. Neumann testified that he does not remember the specifics of the conversation.  He testified that in September 2002, he was unaware of the employee's prior shoulder problems.  Dr. Neumann testified when he asked the employee if she had problems with her shoulder prior to March 15, 2002, she said “no.”  Prior to evaluating the employee, Dr. Neumann testified he was aware of the mention of the employee's prior shoulder problems because it was mentioned in Dr. Sobolesky's records.  He testified that he took the employee's word, instead of relying upon Dr. Sobolesky's records.  Dr. Neumann testified that he never discussed with the employee in August 2003 or April 2004 reports he possessed indicating she had some treatment prior to 2001 for her shoulder.  He testified that after September 2002, he did not ask her about the pre-existing problems.  He testified that after he reviewed Dr. Sobolesky’s records and the records from 1999, he did not discuss the previous shoulder problems with the employee.  He testified he did not feel he should discuss it with her again since he initially asked her and she denied previous problems with her right shoulder.  He testified that he found the March 15, 2001 injury was a substantial factor in the employee’s right shoulder condition based upon his belief that the employee did not have pre-existing problems.

Dr. Neumann testified that he determined the employee had a pre-existing range of motion impairment based upon the October 1, 1999 record.  He testified that he did not consider the October 29, 1999 report, despite its notation that the employee had a full, active range of motion.  Dr. Neumann testified that based upon the October 29, 1999 report, under the AMA Guides, he would not rate her with an impairment.  However, he testified that he would need numerical range of motion measurements in order to be certain she had no pre-existing impairment.  He testified that full, active range of motion is more important functionally, and it was more likely that the employee had a full range of motion than an impairment on October 29, 1999.

Dr. Neumann testified that the April 2004 PPI range of motion impairment was reduced from the August 2003 rating.  He testified that the reduction was based upon the comparison of the employee’s condition at the time of rating with the October 1, 1999 report and its range of motion measurements.  He further testified that had he made the rating by comparing her condition at the time of rating with the October 29, 1999 report, he would not have reduced the PPI rating.  He said that both the August 2003 and April 2004 ratings considered the employee’s arthroscopy.

Dr. Neumann testified that there was nothing in the employee’s record that indicated she needed arthroscopy surgery prior to March 15, 2001.  He testified that the need for arthroscopy was a combination of factors and progressive degenerative changes.  He testified that the March 15, 2001 injury was a contributing, but not substantial factor in the employee’s condition.  

Dr. Neumann testified that the employee had a progressively deteriorating condition.  He testified that she had a downhooking of the acromion and the more she used her shoulder, the more she lifted, the more she carried, the further it eroded.  He testified that the March 15, 2001 injury, activities of daily living, and her regular work activities led to further progressive degenerative change.  He testified the fact that she continued to work after the March 15, 2001 injury, and continued to engage in activities using her shoulder contributed to the progressive deterioration of the shoulder, as did age, wear and tear.  He testified that work would be a factor leading to progressive deterioration, but that there was continuous degeneration with activity.

Dr. Neumann testified that after the October 1999 treatment and until 2001, the employee’s condition was quiescent.

Dr. Neumann testified that the rotator cuff is a complex of muscles that help move the shoulder.  He testified that with a massive tear, an individual cannot move their shoulder up at all.  Dr. Neumann testified that Dr. Gieringer’s post-op report indicated the employee’s rotator cuff tear was very large, very close to being irreparable.  
Dr. Neumann testified that if the rotator cuff tear was caused by the March 15, 2001 injury, the employee would not have been able to continue to work.  He testified that if the March 15, 2001 injury caused a partial tear, and the employee continued to work, there is a probability that the tear got larger.  Dr. Neumann further testified that between March 2001 and September 2002 there was impingement, arthritis and a degenerative condition, and continued aggravation and activities made the employee’s symptoms worse, and could have led to an increased tear.

C. Douglas Smith, M.D.
Dr. Smith testified via deposition on April 15, 2005.  Dr. Smith testified that in providing deposition testimony and responding to questions, he had to mainly rely on his report and the records because the employee was examined in July 2004, and he did not have an independent recollection of the employee.

In addressing the employee’s low back condition, Dr. Smith testified that even through the employee had pre-existing condition in her low back, the medical record does not provide any firm indications that the employee had a pre-existing ratable impairment, and he found no justification for an apportionment.

Dr. Smith testified he found the employee to be medically stable on July 16, 2003, 45 days after the last objective indication of improvement, which was an epidural steroid injection at the end of May 2003.

With regard to the employee's shoulder condition, Dr. Smith testified that his report stated, “It would be my opinion that the medical records did not indicate that the right shoulder problem which subsequently was treated surgically was related substantially to the industrial accident.”  Dr. Smith testified that he based his opinion on the records that indicated the employee had treatment for her shoulder in October of 1999, and with a chiropractor visits starting on February 21, 2001, prior to the March 15, 2001 accident.  He testified complaints were reported and treated and did not resolve prior to the March 15, 2001 industrial accident date.  Dr. Smith testified that for what it was worth, there was a note from Dr. Epstein in November 2001, which noted the employee's right shoulder discomfort as new in onset.  Dr. Smith testified he thought there were pre-existing symptoms similar to those that continued after the industrial accident, and the alternative cause of the employee’s current symptoms was impingement.  He testified the impingement was related to a congenital development of the acromion, which predisposed her to impingement relative to the rotator cuff and possibly injuries in 1999 or some other date relative to the shoulder rotator cuff problem.

Dr. Smith testified that internal and external rotation and abduction and adduction and flexion range of motion measurements of the shoulder sometimes do not help determine whether a rotator cuff problem or something else exists.  Dr. Smith testified the problem is that range of motion of the shoulder is relative to painful areas that may be there, either in the rotator cuff or as a result of impingement from an acute tear.  He testified that the range of motion of the shoulder is relative to the tightness or the adhesive qualities of the capsule.  Dr. Smith testified that in his practice he has seen people with significant rotator cuff tear who have essentially normal range of motion because the tear was not impinging on the acromion.  He testified that the full range of motion does not rule out the possibility of a rotator cuff tear if it is not acute, because the swelling may have resolved.

Dr. Smith testified, assuming the conclusion of the October 29, 1999 physical therapy record was correct, that the employee had full range of motion of the shoulder and that would indicate she had no range of motion impairment under the AMA Guides.  

Dr. Smith testified that it was a possibility that the March 15, 2001 injury aggravated or accelerated the employee's 
pre-existing condition and that it became symptomatic enough that surgery was necessary, even though it had not been recommended or suggested before.  However, he testified that in looking at her case it was not a probability.  He testified that if the employee had sustained an acute rotator cuff tear at the time of the March 15, 2001 incident, that would have caused a lot more focus to be on her shoulder and would have caused a significant change in her symptomology of the shoulder, similar to the change of the symptomology of her back.

IV.
THE PARTIES’ ARGUMENTS

TTD From August 21, 2003 to April 6, 2004

The employee argues that the employer has failed to meet its burden of proof on its defense that the employee was medically stable.  The employee asserts the employer, in reliance upon Dr. Neumann’s EME report, controverted TTD benefits.  The employee argues Dr. Neumann, after providing his opinion that the employee was medically stable in August 2003, subsequently changed his mind and decided the employee was medically stable on 
April 5, 2004, the same time Dr. Voke opined the employee was medically stable.  

The employee argues the Board should rely upon the opinion of Dr. Voke that the employee’s low back condition was not medically stable until April 6, 2004, in determining if the employee is entitled to TTD benefits from August 21, 2003, the date of controversion, to April 6, 2004.  The employee argues there is no dispute that her low back condition improved between June of 2003 and April of 2004.

The employer argues that both Dr. Neumann and Dr. Smith are in agreement that the employee’s low back condition was medically stable on or about July 16, 2003, 45 days after she received epidural steroid injections.  The employer asserts that Dr. Smith gave concrete reasons for his finding that the employee was medically stable on July 16, 2003; specifically, she was medically stable 45 days after an epidural steroid injection, which was the last objective improvement.  Further, the employer argues that between February 26, 2004, when Dr. Voke opined the employee would be medically stable when she engaged in vocational rehabilitation, and April 6, 2004, when Dr. Voke followed up with the employee, there were basically no changes in the employee’s back and leg condition.  The employer argues that Dr. Voke’s opinion, that the employee will be medically stable when she engages in vocational rehabilitation, is flawed and should not be relied upon. 

PPI for the Employee’s Shoulder Condition

The employee argues that the employer has accepted the employee’s shoulder condition as work related; has paid for the shoulder subacromial decompression, acromioclavicular arthroplasty, rotator cuff repair and biceps realignment performed by Dr. Gieringer on September 3, 2002.  The employee asserts that she accepts 
Dr. Gieringer’s competence.  Further, in reliance upon Frazier v. H.C. Price/CIRI Constr. J.V.,
 the employee asserts the employer selected Dr. Neumann to perform an EME, and “has in effect vouched for the competence and credibility of” Dr. Neumann.  The employee argues the Board should adopt the PPI rating of 10 percent, given by both Dr. Gieringer and Dr. Neumann for the employee’s right shoulder.

The employee argues the Board should rely upon the opinion of Dr. Gieringer who emphatically states the employee’s employment with the employer is a substantial factor in her present right shoulder condition.  The employee argues that her work with the employer, including the March 15, 2001 injury and subsequent work activities, injured, aggravated and and/or accelerated her shoulder condition; and that her shoulder condition after her work for the employer was substantially different than it was in October 1999 or February 2001.  The employee asserts that it is only Dr. Smith who doubts the employee’s shoulder condition is work related.  The employee argues that the employer has never filed any pleading alleging that the employee’s work was not a substantial factor in her need for shoulder surgery and her present 10 percent PPI.

The employee asserts that the question is not whether the employee’s shoulder hurt or if she received temporary treatment for her right shoulder in the past, but rather whether there was anything serious prior to March 15, 2001.  The employee argues the record is devoid of any indication that the employee had a serious pre-existing condition in her right shoulder prior to March 15, 2001.  The employee argues that Dr. Neumann, the employer’s chief witness, admitted that at the most, the employee had a temporary condition in October 1999, and that according to the medical records, which is the only thing the Board can rely upon, the measurements by the physical therapist demonstrate the employee had full range of motion and that the employee had such a recovery with full active range of motion, that the physical therapist did not bother to make precise range of motion measurements. 

The employee argues that there is nothing to indicate, either in October 1999 or February 2001, that the employee was going to need significant treatment, that she had any diagnosable problem, or that she had any ratable impairment.  The employee asserts that the only time she had a specific condition diagnosed, the only time that she needed specific treatment, the only time that she had objective findings, and the only time she had a ratable impairment was after March 15, 2001.

The employee argues that there is no basis under the AMA Guides that she had a ratable impairment prior to March 15, 2001 that could be used to reduce the impairment rating given by Drs. Gieringer and Neumann.  Further, the employee argues that without a ratable impairment prior to March 15, 2001, there was not a significant enough condition to conclude the March 15, 2001 injury was not a substantial factor.

The employee asserts that Dr. Neumann admitted that the March 15, 2001 injury combined with the employee’s continuing to work for several months, engaging in the activities of daily living, of which work is included, could and probably would cause a pre-existing condition to worsen.  

The employer asserts it relied on misstatements by the employee when it initially concluded that the shoulder surgery was work related.  However, the employer emphasizes that after diligent records searches, which disclosed the employee’s pre-existing shoulder condition, Dr. Neumann and Dr. Smith both concluded that work was not a substantial factor in the employee’s need for shoulder surgery, and the Board in relying upon their opinions, should find the employee is not entitled to permanent partial impairment benefits as a result of her shoulder injury. .

V. ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

The employee provided an affidavit of attorney fees and costs, filed by the employee’s attorney on April 1, 2005, with a supplemental affidavit filed on August 1, 2005, and a second supplemental affidavit of fees filed on August 3, 2005.  Mr. Croft testified he spent an additional three hours in preparation for hearing and seven hours representing the employee on the day of hearing.
  The affidavits and testimony itemize 51.5 hours of attorney time for attorney fees in the total sum of $15,420.00.  .6 hours of Mr. Croft’s time were billed at $250.00 per hour; the remaining 50.9 hours were billed at $300.00.  The affidavits itemize 20.7 hours of paralegal time, billed at $100.00 per hour, for paralegal costs of $2,070.00.  Itemized costs, including court reporter fees, faxes, courier fees, copies and postage, total $325.24.  Itemized costs and paralegal costs total $2,395.24.
The employee argues that of the two issues involved in the case, if the Board finds in the employee’s favor on only one of the issues, that the majority of the time was spent on the issue involving the employee’s right shoulder condition and the Board should award fees accordingly.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
TTD BENEFITS
AS 23.30.185 provides:

In case of disability total in character but temporary in quality, 80 percent of the injured employee's spendable weekly wages shall be paid to the employee during the continuance of the disability.  Temporary total disability benefits may not be paid for any period of disability occurring after the date of medical stability.

In defining medical stability, AS 23.30.395(21) states medical stability:

…means the date after which further objectively measureable improvement from the effects of the compensable injury is not reasonably expected to result from additional medical care or treatment, notwithstanding the possible need for additional medical care or the possibility of improvement or deterioration resulting from the passage of time; medical stability shall be presumed in the absence of objectively measurable improvement for a period of 45 days; this presumption may be rebutted by clear and convincing evidence.

The employee claims TTD benefits for her back injury from July 30, 2003, the date of controversion of TTD benefits, until April 5, 2004, the date Dr. Voke and Dr. Neumann opined the employee had reached medical stability.  The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act defines "disability" as "incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment."
  The Act provides for benefits at 80 percent of the employee's spendable weekly wage during the continuance of disability either total or partial in character but temporary in quality."
  In Vetter v. Alaska Workmen's Compensation Board,
 the Alaska Supreme Court stated:

The concept of disability compensation rests on the premise that the primary consideration is not medical impairment as such, but rather loss of earning capacity related to that impairment.  An award for compensation must be supported by a finding that the claimant suffered a compensable disability, or more precisely, a decrease in earning capacity due to a work-connected injury or illness.

The Alaska Supreme Court held in Meek v. Unocal Corp. that AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.
  In the instant case, the employer denied the employee was entitled TTD benefits subsequent to August 21, 2003 and terminated TTD payments on August 29, 2003.  The employee testified concerning her work injury, its consequences, her eventual inability to return to work.  The Board finds the medical record uniformly indicates the employee’s back condition is substantially related to her March 15, 2001 work injury.  We find the documentary record contains medical opinions of the employee’s treating physicians indicating the employee suffered significant restrictions from her work-related back injury, which rendered her unable to work up to and following her September 13, 2001 surgery on her back.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek, the Board must apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the employee’s claim for continuing TTD benefits.  We find the claimant's testimony and the medical treatment records of Dr. Voke, are sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that her work injury prevented her from working from August 30, 2003 until April 5, 2004, and that the employee is entitled to TTD benefits for that period of time.  

There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work‑related disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work‑related.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  

The Board applied the presumption analysis, as outlined above, to the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from August 30, 2003 until April 5, 2004.  Additionally, AS 23.30.185 limits the duration of TTD benefits to the date of medical stability as defined in AS 23.30.395(21).  The presumption of medical stability in the statutory definition must be read in the context of the terms that "improvement. . . is not reasonably expected": To terminate the employee’s TTD benefits, the employer is required to show medical evidence to establish medical stability.  When the constitutionality
 of the medical stability provision was challenged, the Alaska Supreme Court  held: 

The evidence is easily obtained by examining the treating physician.  That is, the treating physician should have no difficulty offering an opinion on whether or not further objectively measurable improvement is expected.  The 45-day provision simply signals when that proof is necessary.  The alleged difficulty in proving the nonexistence of medical stability, simply fades when viewed in light of the proof actually required. 

In the absence of any other explicitly required burden of proof to show medical stability, we conclude the employer must show medical stability by a preponderance of the evidence, as is standard in administrative law proceedings.
  Once medical stability is established and has continued for 45 days, it is presumed to continue until overcome by clear and convincing evidence.
  

In the second stage of the presumption analysis, the Board finds that the opinions of all physicians in this case offering opinions regarding the employee’s low back indicate that the employee’s back injury rendered her unable to perform her work, at least initially.  However, Dr. Neumann, in his August 21, 2003 report indicated the employee had reached medical stability for her low back.  He anticipated the employee’s low back condition became stable within a four to six month period of time postoperatively.  Further, Dr. Smith opined that the employee was medically stable on July 16, 2003, 45 days after she received an epidural steroid injection at the end of May 2003.  The Board finds Dr. Neumann’s and Dr. Smith’s opinions are substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability of the employee’s claim for TTD benefits from August 30, 2003 until April 5, 2004.

Once substantial evidence shows the condition is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  Accordingly, the Board has reviewed the entire medical and hearing record in this case to determine whether the employee has proven her claim, that she is entitled to TTD benefits from August 30, 2003 to April 5, 2004, by a preponderance of the evidence.  The Board concludes she has not.

In support of her position, the employee presents the opinion of Dr. Voke who maintained the employee had not reached medical stability until April 5, 2004.  Further, the employee relies upon the opinion of Dr. Neumann, rendered on June 30, 2004, that indicates the employee was medically stable on April 4, 2004 for all conditions except L5-S1 herniated nucleus pulposus.  The Board finds the opinion of Dr Smith conflicts with that of Dr. Voke and the June 30, 2004 opinion of Dr. Neumann.  

The Board finds Dr. Smith conducted an independent examination of the employee, and a thorough analysis of the entirety of the employee’s medical records.  The Board gives greater weight to the opinion of 
Dr. Smith as his is the only opinion that gives justification for his selected date of medical stability.
  The Board finds Dr. Smith reasoned the employee reached medical stability on July 16, 2003, 45 days after she received an epidural steroid injection, which he indicated was 45 days after the last objective indication of improvement.  The Board finds Dr. Smith additionally reviewed, and based his opinion upon, electrodiagnostic studies conducted on July 16, 2003, which revealed no acute process on going, but merely demonstrated chronic radiculopathy.  

The Board finds the reports of Dr. Voke provided scant objective evidence to support or substantiate the employee’s claim that she was not medically stable from August 30, 2003 to April 5, 2004.  The Board finds 
Dr. Voke’s chart notes merely state the employee is improving; however, fail to indicate how she is improving or what the objective measure of improvement was.  

Further, the Board finds the various opinions from Dr. Neumann regarding the date of medical stability for the employee’s low back condition to be inconsistent and speculative.  The Board does note that Dr. Neumann took range of motion measurements of the employee’s lumbar spine on April 5, 2004 and August 21, 2003.  The Board finds those measurements taken on April 5, 2004 indicate there had not been any objective improvement in the employee’s lumbar spine between August 21, 2003 and April 5, 2004; rather, the employee’s range of motion had worsened. 

For the forgoing reasons, the Board gives substantially more weight to the opinion of Dr. Smith.  We find the preponderance of the medical evidence supports the finding that the employee’s low back condition was medically stable on July 16, 2003.  As the employee was medically stable on July 16, 2003, the Board concludes it must deny and dismiss the employee’s claim for TTD benefits for the period August 30, 2003 to April 5, 2004.  
II. PPI BENEFITS
At the time of the employee’s injury, AS 23.30.190 provided, in part:

(a) in case of impairment partial in character but permanent in quality. . . the  compensation is $177,000 multiplied by the employee's percentage of permanent  impairment of the whole person. The compensation is payable in a single lump sum, except as otherwise provided in AS 23.30.041. 
 . . ."

(b) All determinations of the existence and degree of permanent impairment shall be made strictly and solely under the whole person determination as set out in the American Medical Association Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment . . .

(c) The impairment rating determined under (a) of this section shall he reduced by a permanent impairment that existed before the compensable injury.

AS 23.30.190 is specific and mandatory that PPI ratings must be for an impairment, which is partial in character and permanent in quality, and calculated under the AMA Guides.  The Board has consistently followed this statute in its decisions and orders.
    Dr. Nolte noted that the employee’s shoulder symptoms arose with her work injury, and persisted thereafter.  Dr. Nolte referred the employee to physical therapy.  The physical therapist directed the employee to discontinue swimming that had been ordered for her low back condition, because it aggravated the employee’s shoulder pain.  When the employee’s symptoms did not resolve, Dr. Nolte referred her to 
Dr. Gieringer, who determined, based upon the employee’s symptoms of night pain and weakness, that she should be evaluated for a rotator cuff tear.  Ultimately, Dr. Gieringer performed arthroscopy of the employee’s right shoulder with subacromial decompression, acromioclavicular arthroplasty, rotator cuff repair and bicep realignment.  Accordingly, Dr. Gieringer rated the employee under the AMA Guides, and ascribed that rating to her work injury.  Dr. Gieringer rated her with a ten percent PPI.  Additionally, Dr. Neumann provided a rating of the employee’s shoulder condition under the AMA Guides of ten percent PPI.  Dr. Neumann initially attributed the rating to the employee’s work injury; however, later changed his mind.  Dr. Smith also provided a PPI rating of eight percent to the employee’s right shoulder condition; however, he categorically denied that it was related to the March 15, 2001 work incident.

The Board finds that the employee suffers a ratable PPI, therefore her claim is dependent upon only one element: Whether the PPI rating is related to her March 15, 2001 work injury.  

The Alaska Workers' Compensation Act at AS 23.30.120 provides a presumption of compensability for an employee's injuries.  AS 23.30.120(a) reads, in part:  "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter. . . ."  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
 

To make a prima facie case, the employee must present some evidence that (1) she has an injury and (2) an employment event or exposure could have caused it. "[I]n claims 'based on highly technical medical considerations,' medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection."
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  Also, a substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition, imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury that bears a causal relation to the disability.
  Under DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, the Alaska Supreme Court pointed out:

And we have noted that an employee is entitled to benefits whenever the work-related aggravation ‘is a substantial factor’ in the employee’s impairment, ‘regardless of whether a non-work-related injury could independently have caused’ that impairment.

In the instant case, the July 23, 2003, ten percent PPI rating of the employee for her work injury by Dr. Gieringer is sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a) for the employee’s claim for PPI benefits.

There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence showing that the employee does not suffer work‑related disability; or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work‑related.
  Merely showing another cause of the disability does not, in itself, rebut the compensability of the claim against an employer.
  The same standards used to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to establish the preliminary link apply to determine whether medical evidence is necessary to overcome the presumption.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  Drs. Neumann and Smith ascribe the employee’s right shoulder condition to pre-existing, degenerative changes.  Dr. Neumann believed the claim incident of March 15, 2001, was related to the employee’s pre-existing shoulder condition as a temporary aggravation, strain injury, which was superimposed upon her underlying progressive degenerative condition.  Dr. Smith did not believe the March 15, 2001 work incident aggravated, accelerated, or combined with the pre-existing condition to produce a disability in the employee’s shoulder.  We find the opinions of 
Drs. Neumann and Smith, taken in isolation, are substantial evidence that the employee's March 15, 2001 injury was a temporary aggravation of a pre-existing injury, resulting in no permanent impairment.

Consequently, the employee must prove all elements of the case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  "Where one has the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, he must induce a belief in the minds of the [triers of fact] that the asserted facts are probably true."
  Drs. Neumann and Smith felt the employee's continuing symptoms resulted from a pre-existing degenerative condition.  However, based upon the testimony of Dr. Neumann, that the employee, at most, had a temporary condition in 1999 and did not have a permanent partial impairment at that time, the Board finds Dr. Neumann’s and Dr. Smith’s opinions do not rule out that the March 15, 2001 incident aggravated or exacerbated the employee’s pre-existing condition.  In this case, we find much more persuasive the April 21, 2005 opinion of Gieringer, that although the employee had a pre-existing condition, the March 15, 2001 work injury created a substantially different situation in the employee’s right shoulder than what was present prior to the work injury.  The Board finds this is consistent with the employee’s treatment records, and consistent with her testimony.  The Board finds the employee is credible.
  The Board finds no evidence of a PPI rating of the employee’s condition before her work injury.  By the preponderance of the available evidence, we find the employee suffered a ten percent PPI rating, and is entitled to PPI benefits under 
AS 23.30.190 corresponding to that rating.  

III.
PENALTIES
AS 23.30.155 provides in part:

(b) The first installment of compensation becomes due on the 14th day after the employer has knowledge of the injury or death.  On this date all compensation then due shall be paid.  Subsequent compensation shall be paid in installments, every 14 days . . . .

(d) If the employer controverts the right to compensation the employer shall file with the board and send to the employee a notice of controversion on or before the 21st day after the employer has knowledge of the alleged injury or death.

(e) If any installment of compensation payable without an award is not paid within seven days after it becomes due, as provided in (b) of this section, there shall be added to the unpaid installment an amount equal to 25 percent of it.  This additional amount shall be paid at the same time as, and in addition to, the installment, unless notice is filed under (d) of this section or unless the nonpayment is excused by the board after a showing by the employer that owing to conditions over which the employer had no control the installment could not be paid within the period prescribed for the payment.

In the instant case, the employee asserts the employer failed to timely controvert PPI benefits as provided in 
AS 23.30.155(b), and failed to timely pay PPI benefits.  She argues she is due penalties under 
AS 23.30.155(e).  The employee received a ten percent whole person PPI rating for her right shoulder condition on July 23, 2003.

The employer filed a Notice of Controversion on June 1, 2004, controverting all medical and disability benefits relating to the employee’s shoulder condition and PPI benefits.  The employer based its controversion upon 
Dr. Neumann’s reports dated April 5, 2004 and April 28, 2004.  If an employer wishes to dispute or deny compensation, AS 23.30.155(d) requires the employer to notify the employee and the board with a Controversion Notice within seven days after an installment of compensation is due.  In the absence of late-discovered evidence, fraud, or other circumstances beyond the employer’s control, an employer must comply with AS 23.30.155(d), or compensation is due as a matter of law once the presumption of compensability has attached.
  In the instant case, the medical records from Dr. Sobolesky were fully disclosed to the employer, providing the employer with the basis to request additional records pertaining to right shoulder treatment received by the employee.  The Board does not find a valid basis for late-discovered evidence, fraud or other circumstances beyond the employer’s control that will excuse the employer from filing the Controversion Notice in accord with AS 23.30.155(d).  

The Board finds PPI benefits were neither paid under AS 23.30.155(a) and (e), nor controverted under 
AS 23.30.155(d).  We conclude a 25 percent penalty is due to the employee under AS 23.30.155(e).  We will award the employee penalties under AS 23.30.155(e) for the late paid PPI benefits due the employee.

III.
INTEREST
AS 23.30.155(p) provides, in part:

An employer shall pay interest on compensation that is not paid when due.  Interest required under this subsection accrues at the rate specified in AS 09.30.070(a) that is in effect on the date the compensation is due.

8 AAC 45.142 provides, in part:

If compensation is not paid when due, interest must be paid at the rate established in AS 45.45.010 for an injury that occurred before July 1, 2000, and at the rate established in AS 09.30.070(a) for an injury that occurred on or after July 1, 2000.  If more than one installment of compensation is past due, interest must be paid from the date each installment of compensation was due, until paid.  If compensation for a past period is paid under an order issued by the board, interest on the compensation awarded must be paid from the due date of each unpaid installment of compensation.

For injuries which occurred on or after July 1, 2000, AS 23.30.155(p) and the Board’s regulation at 8 AAC 45.142 requires the payment of interest at a statutory rate, as provided at AS 09.30.070(a), from the date at which each installment of compensation is due.
  The Courts have consistently instructed the Board to award interest to claimants for the time-value of money, as a matter of course.
  Accordingly, the Board will award interest to the employee, in accord with AS 23.30.155(p), on the unpaid PPI benefit awarded by this decision, from the date on which the benefit was due. 

V.
ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

 (b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

The Board finds the employee was successful in the prosecution of certain of her claims in this proceeding.
  The employee seeks an award of attorney's fee under AS 23.30.145 for securing those benefits.  The Board found the employer liable for certain claimed benefits.  Consequently, we can award fees.
  

The Alaska Supreme Court in Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell
 held that our attorney fee awards should be reasonable and fully compensatory, considering the contingency nature of representing injured workers, to insure adequate representation.  Accordingly, in our awards, we attempt to recognize the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers, and to compensate the attorneys accordingly.
  
AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  In cases such as this, where the employee prevailed on some issues, but lost on others, we must weigh the benefit of the attorney's representation.

The employee claims an attorney fee of $300.00 per hour for the successful prosecution of certain claims.  The Board finds Mr. Croft sets a high standard, which comparable attorneys in the Alaska market strive to achieve.  The Board finds practice in the workers’ compensation forum to be contingent upon prevailing on issues presented to the Board.  The Board takes administrative notice that Mr. Croft has practiced in the specialized area of workers' compensation law for many years.  Accordingly, in light of Attorney Croft's extensive experience, the benefits he secured for the employee in this case, and the contingent nature of workers' compensation practice, we find $300.00 per hour to be a reasonable hourly rate for Mr. Croft in this matter.  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  Our regulation 8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under subsection 145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  We have examined the record of this case, and the written and oral itemization of fees and costs in the employee's attorney’s various affidavits.  

In considering the affidavits of the employee's attorney, the Board notes the employer made no objection to the reasonableness of the itemized legal fees and costs.  We find this claim was complicated, confusing, and aptly disputed by the employer.  We note that Mr. Croft devoted an exceptional portion of hearing time to the issue upon which the employee prevailed, PPI benefits for her shoulder disability.  We specifically find Mr. Croft’s services were invaluable in providing clarity on the PPI issue, which was complicated by various and differing opinions from the employer’s physician.  

Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the amount of time devoted to the PPI issue before the Board, as well as the benefit to the employee in the partially successful prosecution of this claim, we find three quarters of the claimed attorney fee is reasonable.  We find the full claimed costs are reasonable.  The Board will award $11,565.00 in attorney fees and $2,395.24 in costs.    


ORDER

1. The employee’s claim for TTD benefits under AS 23.30.185 for the period August 30, 2003 through 
April 6, 2004, is denied and dismissed.
2. The employer shall pay the employee PPI benefits, under AS 23.30.090, based on a ten percent whole-person rating under the AMA Guides.
3. The employee is awarded penalties under AS 23.30.155(e), in the sum of $4,425.00.
4. The employee is awarded interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142, on the late-paid PPI benefit awarded in this decision, from August 6, 2003, the date compensation was due.  
5. The employer shall pay the employee $11,565.00 as reasonable attorney fees, and $2,395.24 in legal costs, under AS 23.30.145(b).  
Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on September  9,  2005.
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Patricia A. Vollendorf, Member

DISSENT

I respectfully dissent from the findings and conclusions of my colleagues on the board panel deciding this case.  Their finding from which I dissent is that the employee’s PPI in her right shoulder is related to the March 15, 2001 work incident.

I do not find the employee’s shoulder condition is related to the March 15, 2001 work injury.  I find the preponderance of the medical evidence shows the employee had a pre-existing degenerative condition in her shoulder, which may have started as early as October, 1999, when she was involved in a non-work related motor vehicle accident.  Furthermore, three weeks before the report of injury the employee was seen by Chiropractor Soblesky, who noted right shoulder pain, with symptoms beginning two years ago.  When she was seen in an employer sponsored independent medical examination on September 13, 2002, completed by Dr. Holm Neumann, she denied prior shoulder problems.  I find this fact also raises credibility issues on the part of the employee.  

Further, I do not find the medical records show the employee's work for the employer was a substantial factor in causing the employee’s shoulder condition.  Consequently, though I find the presumption of compensability attaches, at AS 23.30.120(a), I find the medical evidence rebuts the presumption.  Dr. Smith and Dr. Neumann both believe the employee’s shoulder condition developed over time and pre-existed the March 15, 2001 work incident.  Dr. Smith was the Board appointed SIME physician and is likely the most independent and objective of the doctors that opined on causation.  Based on the opinions of these physicians, at the third stage of the presumption analysis, I find the preponderance of the medical evidence to indicate the employee's condition and her resulting PPI are not related to her employment.  I choose to rely on the opinion of Dr. Smith and find that his opinion that the employee had a congenital defect leading to impingement leads to an alternate cause of the employee’s condition.  I find Dr. Smith to be an independent minded, reliable SIME physician.

I find the employee is unable to prove all elements of her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  I conclude the employee's right shoulder condition is not related to her work, and her claim for PPI benefits, penalties, interest and attorney fees and costs should be denied and dismissed.







____________________________                                  






Stephen Hagedorn, Member

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.  If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION

Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 
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� 7/16/03 Electrodiagnostic Study, Dr. Gevaert.


� 8/5/03 Approvals of Ticket Seller and Supervisor, Cashiers Occupational Descriptions, Dr. Gieringer.


� 8/21/03 T.I.M.E. Report, Dr. Neumann at 6.


� Id. at 9.


� Id.


� Id. at 10.


� Id. at 11.


� Id. at 11-12.


� Id. at 12.


� AS 23.30.095(e) and (k).  9/4/03 Chart Note, Dr. Voke.  


� 11/13/03 Chart Note, Dr. Voke.


� 12/16/03 Chart Note, Dr. Voke.


� Id.  See also, 12/16/ Q. I do know that03 Letter to Division of Workers’ Compensation from Dr. Voke.


� 1/26/04 MRI Spine Lumbar W/WO Contrast, Chakri Inampudi, M.D.


� 1/29/04 Chart Note, Dr. Voke.


� 2/26/04 Chart Note, Dr. Voke.


� 4/5/04 T.I.M.E. Report, Dr. Neumann at 7.


� Id. at 10-11.


� Id. at 11.  The employee’s record held with the Board does not contain a copy of Christi Niemann’s April 2, 2004 cover letter, mentioned by Dr. Neumann as a source of information upon which he based his impressions.


� Id. at 11-12.


� Id. at 12.


� Id. at 13.


� Id. at 14.


� Id. at 15.


� Dr. Neumann’s report refers to Dr. Gieringer as Dr. Gaveart.


� Id. at 15-16.


� 4/6/04 Chart Note, Dr. Voke.


� 4/26/04 Letter to Dr. Godersky from Dr. Epstein, at 1-2.


� Id. at 2.


� Id.


� 4/28/04 T.I.M.E. Report Addendum, Dr. Neumann at 1.


� Id.


� Id.


� 6/1/04 Controversion Notice.


� Id.


� 6/7/04 Partial Permanent Impairment Evaluation, Dr. Voke at 2.


� 6/29/04 Physical Capacities Evaluation, Alaska Spine Institute Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, �Alan Blizzard, PT.


� 8/10/04 Responses of Dr. Neumann to the 6/30/04 questions from Consulting Analyses Surveys Evaluations.


� Id.


� 8/10/04 Job Analysis/Descriptions for Training Representative, Group-Sales Representative, and Ticket Seller, �Dr. Neumann.


� 3/14/05 SIME Report, Dr. Smith at 6.


� Id. at 6-7.


� Id. at 7-8.


� Id. at 8.


� Id. 


� Id. at 9.


� Id. 


� Id. at 9.


� Id. at 10.


� Id. at 9-10.


� Id. at 10.


� Id.


� 4/21/05 Letter to Chancy Croft, Atty., from Dr. Gieringer.


� 3/6/1978 Chart Note, Dr. Nolan.


� 1/17/1991 Chart Note, Dr. vWichman.


� 12/13/91 Chart Note Dr. vWichman.


� 12/17/92 Chart Note, Dr. vWichman.


� 5/10/96 Physician’s Report, R. W. Garner, M.D.


� 12/18/96 Radiology Consultation, MRI Spine Cervical No Contrast, John R. Fischer, M.D.


� 12/19/96 Physician's Report, Dr. Garner.


� 1/22/97 Electrodiagnostic Study Report, Sean Hadley, M.D., at 3.


� Id.


� 1/30/97 Physicians Report, Dr. Garner.


� 4/2/97 Letter to Dr. Garner from Dr. Hadley at 2.


� 6/3/97 Medical Claims  Evaluator, Dr. Schleimer at 4.


� 9/30/99 Physician’s Report, Dr. Nolte; 9/30/99 Chart Notes, Dr. Nolte at 1.


� 10/1/99 HealthSouth, Rehabilitation Center of Anchorage, Evaluation Report, Barb Smith, LPT and Dr. Nolte.


� 10/29/99 HealthSouth, Rehabilitation Center of Anchorage, Discharge Report, Barb Smith, LPT.


� 794 P.2d 103 (Alaska 1990).


� Seven hours time are reflected on the Second Supplemental Affidavit of Fees.


� AS 23.30.395(10).


� AS 23.30.185; AS 23.30.200.


� 524 P.2d 264, 266 (Alaska 1974).


� 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991).    


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611, 612 (Alaska 1999). 


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Id. at 869.  


� On grounds of violation of substantive due process.


� Municipality of Anchorage v. Leigh, 823 P.2d 1241, 1246 (Alaska 1992).


� See AS 44.62.460(e).


� Leigh, 823 P.2d at 1246-1247.


� Id.


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 870 (Alaska 1985).


� In Yahara v. Construction & Rigging, Inc., 851 P.2d 69 (Alaska 1993), the Alaska Supreme Court held that where the Board is faced with two conflicting medical opinions each of which constitutes substantial evidence, the election to rely on one opinion rather than the other will not preclude affirmance of the Board’s decision on appeal.  


� “AMA Guides,” 5th Ed.


� See, e.g., Nickels v. Napolilli, AWCB Decision No. 02-0055 (March 28, 2002); Jarrard v. Nana Regional Corp., AWCB Decision No. 90-0299 (December 14, 1990).  


� Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991).


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Burgess Const. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Peek v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993); 9 A. Larson, The Law of Worker's Compensation, § 95.12 (1997).


� 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000).


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611, 612 (Alaska 1999). 


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 871.


� Id. at 869.  


� Wolfer, 693 P.2d at 870.  


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).   


� AS 23.30.122.


� See, e.g., Gray v. S.O.A., AWCB Decision No. 00-0146 (July 17, 2000).


� Penalty calculation:  Ten percent whole person PPI rating = $17,700.00.  25 percent of $17,700.00 = $4,425.00.


� AS 23.30.155(p) provides a different rate of interest for injuries on or after July 1, 2000.


� See Rawls 686 P.2d at 1192; Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc., 831 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1994); Childs, 860 P.2d at 1191.


� Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d 352 (Alaska 1979).


� Alaska Interstate v. Houston, 586 P.2d 618, 620 (Alaska 1978).


� 718 P.2d 971, 974-975 (Alaska 1986).


� See, Wise Mechanical Contractors v. Bignell, 718 P.2d 971, 974-975 (Alaska 1986); Gentler v. H & H Contractors, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 97-0105.
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